# HIV/AIDS AND CHILDREN'S MIGRATION IN SOUTHERN AFRICA

NICOLA ANSELL AND LORRAINE VAN BLERK

Series Editor: Prof. Jonathan Crush

SOUTHERN AFRICAN MIGRATION PROJECT 2004

Published by Idasa, 6 Spin Street, Church Square, Cape Town, 8001, and Southern African Research Centre, Queen's University, Canada.

Copyright Southern African Migration Project (SAMP) 2004 ISBN 1-919798-70-6

First published 2004 Design by Bronwen Müller Typeset in Goudy

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted, in any form or by any means, without prior permission from the publishers. Bound and printed by Megadigital, Cape Town

CONTENTS	PAGE
Executive Summary	1
HIV/AIDS IN SOUTHERN AFRICA	5
AIDS AND MIGRATION	8
CHILDREN AND AIDS-RELATED MIGRATION	9
RESEARCH METHODS	11
CHILDREN'S AIDS-RELATED MIGRATION IN LESOTHO AND M	Malawi 14
EXPLAINING CHILDREN'S MIGRATION	18
RESPONSIBILITY FOR CHILDREN	19
Providing for Needs	21
EMPLOYING CHILDREN'S CAPACITIES	24
Problems Faced by Young Migrants	26
MULTIPLE MIGRATION	30
POLICY IMPLICATIONS	31
ACKNO WLEDGEMENTS	35
Endnotes	36
MIGRATION POLICY SERIES	40

TABLES	PA	GE
Table 1:	HIV/AIDS PREVALENCE RATES IN SADC COUNTRIES	5
TABLE 2:	PROPORTION OF CHILDREN AGED 0-14 W HO ARE ORPHANS	7
TABLE 3:	Maternal, Paternal and Double Orphanhood in Malawi and Lesotho	7
Table 4:	THE EXTENT OF CHILDREN'S MIGRATION IN MALAWI AND LESOTHO	14
TABLE 5:	CHILDREN'S REASONS FOR HAVING MOVED HOUSE	15
Table 6:	CHILDREN WHO HAVE HAD OTHERS MOVE IN TO LIVE WITH THEM	15
Table 7:	REASONS WHY OTHERS MOVED TO LIVE WITH CHILDREN	16
TABLE 8:	PATTERNS OF CHILDREN'S MIGRATION IN LESOTHO AND MALAWI	16
TABLE 9:	RELATIVES WITH WHOM ORPHANED CHILDREN LIVE	18

# **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

outhern Africa is the region worst affected by the global AIDS pandemic and also experiences very high levels of migration. The two countries examined in this paper, Lesotho and Malawi, have estimated adult HIV prevalence rates of 31% and 16% respectively. Both also have long histories of labour migration, although migration patterns have changed significantly since the end of the apartheid regime in South Africa.

The co-existence of high levels of both HIV/AIDS and migrancy in Southern Africa is not entirely surprising. Not only does human mobility play a very significant role in the pandemic's spread, but migration has been shown to make people particularly vulnerable to HIV infection. A third aspect of the relationship between HIV/AIDS and migration has thus far received much less attention, particularly in Southern Africa: namely, migration that takes place as a result of the pandemic. AIDS imposes heavy costs at a number of levels, not only for those directly infected, but also for their families and wider communities. Coping strategies must be employed, and these sometimes involve the relocation of households or of individual household members.

Children are a key vulnerable group in relation to HIV/AIDS, being affected by the disease in a number of ways. Significant numbers contract HIV themselves, usually at birth or during lactation. Many more are orphaned. Already around 17% of children in Lesotho and Malawi have lost parents, about half of them to HIV/AIDS. Children are affected by HIV/AIDS long before they become orphans, however. Adults with AIDS suffer debilitating illness over a period of months or years, which often reduces household income, imposes medical costs and diminishes the capacity of the household to care for children. Children may be required to take on tasks usually performed by adults - domestic and agricultural work, wage earning and caring for the sick - as well as suffering AIDS-related stigma. Following the death of a parent or guardian, the difficulties children face often increase, with financial hardship exacerbated by problems relating to inheritance and absence of childcare within the household.

At this, or any other, stage in the course of the disease, children may be required to undertake migration. The fact that extended families in Southern Africa are often dispersed across widely separated households means that many children move considerable distances to live with kin.

A children-focused approach was adopted in this study of Lesotho and Malawi in order to examine: (a) the forms of migration that young people affected by HIV/AIDS engage in; (b) the difficulties they face; (c) the coping strategies they employ and forms of support that are

available to them; and (d) the ways in which they might be better supported.

Many children were found to engage in migration, both locally and over longer distances, of whom significant numbers were migrating in response to sickness or death that was likely to be HIV/AIDS related. In many cases migration that was not directly related to AIDS was nonetheless an indirect outcome of sickness or death of family members. Longer distance AIDS-related migration was predominantly urban-to-rural and in several cases international. Many children engage in multiple moves. Sometimes multiple moves are circular as children move between the households of different family members over the course of a week or between institutions and extended families. The clustering of AIDS-afflictions among families and communities, and the cost of caring for many children, complicates the migration strategies employed and often separates sibling groups.

In most cases, children affected by AIDS move to live with matemal grandparents. Others live with aunts, uncles, brothers, sisters and sometimes more distant relatives. A minority of AIDS-affected children enter institutions or resort to living on the streets because relatives lack the resources to offer sufficient care. The decision-makers in such situations may be children themselves, who employ migration as a coping strategy.

Three sets of considerations contribute to decisions as to wher e AIDS-affected children should live: who is responsible for the children; who is able to provide for their needs; and who might usefully employ their capacities. These considerations relate to both the characteristics and needs of individual households, and of children themselves. Children's needs include shelter, economic support, schooling, supervision and psychosocial support. They are able to contribute to households by helping with domestic and agricultural work, earning wages and caring for the sick - a role that is in growing demand in families affected by HIV/AIDS. Children's age and gender play significant roles in determining what are thought to be their specific needs and capacities.

Sometimes there are no households within the extended family that are willing and able to provide the care that children need or want. Such children may leave the extended family. Some marry young; others go away to work; some enter institutions and others resort to the streets.

The complex migration experiences of AIDS-affected young people create a range of difficulties related to children fitting into 'new' families and 'new' communities. When adoption of children into a household is through obligation, as is the case with AIDS orphans, young

migrants are often treated differently, particularly if resources are scarce. Migrant children are sometimes given different foods to eat, not adequately provided with clothing, beaten and overworked. Even where foster parents are supportive, divisions may arise, as biological children may not want to share their resources, both financial and emotional, with 'new' siblings. This is especially problematic if they are coming to terms with parental death and need extra attention.

Many children moving to a new home as a result of HIV/AIDS are expected to undertake more and different work from that which they are used to. They may perform domestic, agricultural or other productive work, or care for children or sick adults. Some young migrants are incorporated into households specifically as workers in payment for their keep. This changes their relationship with the household, as they are not an equal part of the new family. Other children are sent to engage in wage labour away from their households to support younger children. Children migrating from urban to rural environments find it particularly difficult to adapt to agricultural chores; principally herding in Lesotho and field work in Malawi.

Children moving over long distances need to develop new social contacts and many miss their friends. The trauma of losing a parent makes integration more difficult and guardians noted that newcomers were often withdrawn and found it difficult to engage with other children. This is exacerbated for those children who have to learn new skills, as work and play are often inter-related. Further, the increasing association between orphanhood and AIDS, makes integration into community life difficult. This was particularly the case in Lesotho where AIDS is more recent and less widespread.

Many children drop out of school after migration, particularly those who return to live with rural grandparents. Others move to new schools, but find that they must follow a different curriculum, or even learn in a new language.

Children's incorporation into new households, new communities and new schools needs to be facilitated, in part to reduce the extent to which they have to undertake repeated migrations. Since young AIDS migrants are supported mainly through the extended family, support needs to be channelled in ways that support the children themselves and the families that receive them. Policy makers should be more questioning of the roles that communities are able to play with respect to incoming children.

 Empowering children: many of the difficulties children face could be overcome if they were more familiar with the place and people they were moving to. Discussing their migration preferences with those making the decisions would help to alleviate

- such problems. For many children, the only way out of a difficult household situation is to move to the streets.
- Enabling households: children's difficulties fitting into new homes are exacerbated by poverty. If the costs of caring for children, particularly school-related costs, were reduced, children would be more readily accepted into households. This would enable them to stay with those relatives (e.g. grandparents) best able to meet their non-material needs. Furthermore, as most migrations are triggered by economic factors, reduced costs would diminish the need for multiple migrations.
- Questioning communities: much policy concerned with AIDS in Southern Africa emphasises the role of the community. In practice, communities had little involvement in caring for orphaned children. Instead the burden lay with extended family households, sometimes located in other places. This points to the importance of family units as the appropriate level for targeted interventions to assist children.

#### HIV/AIDS IN SOUTHERN AFRICA

outhem Africa is the region currently hardest hit by the global AIDS pandemic, but also experiences unusually high levels of migration. The two countries examined in this paper, Lesotho and Malawi, have estimated adult HIV prevalence rates of 31% and 16% respectively. Both also have long histories of labour migration, although migration patterns have changed significantly since the end of the apartheid regime in South Africa in 1994.

The HIV/AIDS pandemic has gained in intensity as it has spread southwards through Africa, such that today the countries with the highest infection rates are the most southerly. Malawi has suffered high prevalence rates for over a decade: already in 1990 about 20% of pregnant women in the major urban areas were HIV positive. Since the mid-1990s, prevalence in Malawi has stabilised (Table 1). In Lesotho, the first AIDS case was reported in 1986, but prevalence remained low until the mid-1990s (around 4% in 1993). Between 1997 and 2001, Lesotho witnessed an almost four fold increase in HIV prevalence, the most rapid increase of any country in Africa, taking it from the tenth worst affected SADC country to the fourth worst. It is not easy to explain why Lesotho remained relatively protected for so long and yet experienced such a dramatic increase in infection rates: the factors blamed for the severity of Lesotho's epidemic differ little from those in other Southem African countries. An important characteristic of the

Table 1: HIV/AIDS Prevalence Rates in SADC Countries						
Adult Prevalence Rate						
	1997	1999	2001			
Angola	-	2.8	5.5			
Botswana	25.1	35.8	38.8			
Democratic Republic of Congo	4.4	5.1	4.9			
Lesotho	8.4	14.0	31.0			
Malawi	14.9	16.0	15.0			
Mozambique	14.2	13.2	13.0			
Namibia	19.9	19.5	22.5			
South Africa	12.9	19.9	20.1			
Swaziland	18.5	25.2	33.4			
Tanzania	9.4	8.1	7.8			
Zambia	19.1	20.0	21.5			
Zimbabwe	25.8	25.1	33.7			
Source: UNAIDS, Reports on the Globa	al HIV/AIDS Epiden	nic	•			

HIV/AIDS pandemic is the time lag between infection with HIV and death from AIDS. A consequence of this is that even when HIV prevalence rates begin to fall, as they have in Uganda and Zambia, the number of people falling sick with AIDS and the number dying will continue to increase for some years.

Not only is HIV infection geographically uneven and constantly changing across Southern Africa: there are also geographical differences and differences relating to age and gender within each country. Although HIV/AIDS is now endemic throughout both Lesotho and Malawi, the urban areas experience considerably higher HIV prevalence than the rural areas. In Malawi, the southern part of the country (and in particular Blantyre) is worse affected than the northern or central regions. Most of those infected are adults - it is estimated that 92% of those infected in both countries are aged 15-49, most of the remainder being young children infected through mother-to-child-transmission. In both countries women suffer higher infection rates than men: around 55% of adult infections in Lesotho and 56% in Malawi are women. Women are also generally infected at a younger age than men. Seventy five percent of reported AIDS cases among 15-29 year olds in Lesotho, are women.

Those who are directly infected are not the only people affected by HIV/AIDS. In particular, many children are profoundly affected by the sickness and death of adults around them. In all SADC countries over 10% of children are now orphans (Table 2); a proportion considerably higher than would be the case in the absence of HIV/AIDS.<sup>6</sup> Furthermore, the number of orphans will continue to increase even after prevalence rates begin to fall. In both Malawi and Lesotho around 17% of children are already orphans; a proportion set to grow, in the case of Lesotho, to more than a quarter of all children.

A distinctive characteristic of orphanhood through HIV/AIDS is that the death of one parent is commonly followed by the death of the other. It is usual for the child's father to die before the mother, hence rates of paternal orphanhood exceed maternal orphanhood, although the difference narrows in the later stages of the epidemic (Table 3).7 Ultimately HIV/AIDS produces an unprecedented proportion of double orphans.

It is important to note that children are affected by AIDS long before they become orphans and in some cases without themselves being orphaned. Children witness the sickness of adult household members, and may be called upon to provide care (either directly for the sick person, or to take on additional chores allowing others to provide care). AIDS also has serious economic consequences for households, in the form of diminished income and increased expenditure, which negatively affect children.

Table 2: Proportion of Children Aged 0-14 who are Orphans								
	1990	1995	2001	2005 est	2010 est			
Angola	11.9	10.9	10.7	11.0	11.2			
Botswana	5.9	8.3	15.1	20.8	21.6			
Democratic Republic of Congo	10.7	10.8	10.6	10.1	9.4			
Lesotho	10.6	10.3	17.0	23.6	25.5			
Malawi	11.8	14.2	17.5	18.9	18.2			
Mozambique	14.1	12.8	15.5	18.1	19.5			
Namibia	9.4	8.8	12.4	16.4	18.3			
South Africa	7.8	7.5	10.3	14.0	15.8			
Swaziland	8.2	9.0	15.2	21.0	22.1			
Tanzania	9.8	10.1	12.0	12.5	11.6			
Zambia	10.9	13.8	17.6	19.4	18.4			
Zimbabwe	7.9	11.9	17.6	22.1	21.4			
Source: USAID/UNICEF/UNAIDS, Children on the Brink								

Table 3	Table 3: Maternal, Paternal and Double Orphanhood in Malawi and Lesotho								
		Malawi			Lesotho				
	Maternal	Paternal	Double	Maternal	Paternal	Double			
1990	5.3	7.8	1.2	4.5	7.1	1.2			
1995	6.5	9.4	1.8	4.1	7.0	0.9			
2001	9.5	11.7	3.6	8.2	13.4	4.6			
2005	10.8	12.2	4.1	14.7	18.6	9.7			
2010	10.6	11.5	3.8	19.7	20.2	14.3			

Sources: UNAIDS, Global HIV/AIDS Epidemic; A. Cliff and M. Smallman-Raynor, "The AIDS Pandemic: Global Geographical Patterns and Local Spatial Processes" The Geographical Journal 158 (2) (1992): 182-98; J. Caldwell, "The Nature and Limits of the Sub-Saharan African AIDS Epidemic: Evidence from Geographic and Other Patterns" Population and Development Review 19(4) (1993): 817-48

# **AIDS AND MIGRATION**

he co-existence of high levels of both HIV/AIDS and migrancy in Southern Africa is not entirely surprising. Since the early years of the pandemic, the part played by migration in the spread of AIDS has been obvious. Within a decade of its identification, HIV had spread to most parts of the globe. Apart from a tiny proportion accounted for by the movement of blood and blood products, this transmission took place through the movement of people. Unfortunately, the attention given to the role of migration in the pandemic's spread emphasizes migrants as carriers of disease. In some cases this was used to support the compulsory testing or even prohibition of immigrants to certain countries: practices that reflected xenophobia and stigmatized migrants.

More recently, research and policy has turned to the vulnerability of migrants to infection, and the difficulties they face in accessing treatment and care. Migrants are recognised as more vulnerable to infection than people who do not move, because the situations they encounter expose them to risks. Transit points such as truck stops, train and bus stations, market places, harbours and customs zones have been identified as 'high risk zones.' Some Southem African border posts, for example, have developed into thriving informal settlements where truckers can spend the night. These attract street vendors and sex workers, exposing not only travellers but also the local populations to heightened risk. 10

It is not only in transit, however, that migrants risk infection. When they arrive at their destination they may be both poor and marginalized by the society they enter. In such situations, particularly when separated from the social control exercised by families, communities and wider social norms, people are more likely to engage in risky sexual behaviour. Labour migration is often sex selective, separating couples for long periods of time; conditions in which people are more likely to engage in serial and high-risk sexual relationships. Furthermore, if women are discriminated against in the local labour market, and unable to access regular employment, they may have no option but to engage in commercial sex work. Not only are migrants at higher risk of contracting HIV/AIDS; they may also find it harder to access information and medical care, particularly when confronted by cultural and linguistic barriers.

In Southern Africa there has been a widespread assumption that wives of labour migrants who remain in rural areas are likely to be infected by their returning husbands. Migrants' wives risk infection not only from their husbands, but also because of risky sexual elationships

in their husbands' absence, in some cases as the only means of supporting themselves and their children. <sup>14</sup> Migrants' home communities are also rendered vulnerable if migrants return home suffering from AIDS. Sickness deprives households of income and imposes healthcare costs.

Another connection between AIDS and mobility is the migration that takes place as a result of the pandemic. People living with HIV/AIDS move for a variety of reasons: to access better medical care, to escape discrimination or prejudice, and to prevent acquaintances from learning about their illness.<sup>15</sup> In many parts of the world, they return to their parental home to seek support. The time lag between diagnosis with AIDS and eventual death allows people to move to a preferred place to die.<sup>16</sup>

AIDS not only prompts migration by those directly infected by the disease. When a household member becomes sick or dies, this can lead to migration by other household members. In Southern Africa, migration has been used as a coping strategy by AIDS-affected households.<sup>17</sup> Adults may, for instance, migrate to find employment to provide income to cover medical costs, while others relocate between extended family households to reduce consumption, provide substitute labour or meet the need for care in affected households.<sup>18</sup> Ultimately, AIDS-affected households may dissolve entirely. In rural Tanzania, one study found that in 44% of cases where a household head died from AIDS, all the remaining household members moved away.<sup>19</sup> Such households included many children.

# CHILDREN AND AIDS-RELATED MIGRATION

hildren are a key vulnerable group in relation to HIV/AIDS. Significant numbers contract the disease from their mothers, at birth or during lactation. Older children may become infected through sexual activity, sometimes in the context of abusive relationships. Many more children are affected indirectly. Because those most at risk of contracting and dying from AIDS are of reproductive age, many children are orphaned. In Lesotho and Malawi, approximately 17% of children are estimated to have lost one or both parents, about half of them to AIDS, a situation which is set to deteriorate further over the coming decade. Furthermore, because HIV is sexually transmitted, the death of one parent is often followed by the death of the other, giving rise to an unprecedented number of parentless children.

It is not only orphans who suffer the indirect impacts of HIV/AIDS. Also affected are those children whose families or households are impoverished because their income is reduced or costs increased because of the sickness or death of household members. People with AIDS suffer debilitating illness over a period of months or years, which inevitably impacts on those around them. Children's nutritional status often suffers, and they may also undergo psychosocial distress, deteriorating healthcare, increased demands on their labour and reduced opportunities for schooling. Many children are removed from school to earn an income or to provide support for their households. Girls in particular may be expected to undertake agricultural and domestic tasks as well as caring responsibilities including cleaning, feeding and administering medicine to their relatives. Children may experience stigma associated with HIV/AIDS, lose their inheritance and even suffer forced migration and possibly homelessness.

Southern African societies tend to be more mobile than most. Migration, including the movement of individuals into and out of households, contributes significantly to normal household survival.<sup>25</sup> Among these individuals are children, who have long engaged in unaccompanied migration between households of their extended families to contribute to the welfare of their kin. In Lesotho, for instance, it was commonplace for the eldest child to spend some years in early child-hood living in the home of their maternal grandparents. Young boys are also often sent to herd animals. Girls may be sent to provide domestic help for other relatives whose own children are too young. Movements between households of an extended family are not usually viewed as migration, a concept normally reserved for movement of, or away from, the family.

In Southern Africa, there are conventional arrangements for the care of children whose parents die. In patrilineal, virilocal societies such as Lesotho (and in northem and central Malawi), children conventionally live in the village of their father's male ancestors, and would remain there if either or both parents died, raised in the home of their paternal grandparents or paternal uncle. By contrast, in matrilineal societies such as Southern Malawi, children traditionally grow up in the village of their mother's line. Again, if either or both parents died they would remain in the village, although if their mother died, their father would return to his own village and cease contact with the children.

Labour migration has led to the dispersal of families between more than one site. It is now relatively uncommon for children to spend their entire childhoods in the maternal or paternal village. Many children grow up in town, or near a parent's workplace, but may also spend time staying with grandparents on either the patemal or maternal side of

their family, or in other households of their extended families. Most households contain individuals who do not belong to a single nuclear family. In Lesotho in 1993, 22.4% of households had resident children who were not the offspring of the household head. <sup>26</sup> In Malawi, matrilineal practices have not been rigidly adhered to for many years.

The geographical dispersal of extended families gives rise to children's migration as a consequence of HIV/AIDS. In Uganda, orphans and foster children appear to migrate more frequently than other children. In urban Zimbabwe, many orphans have moved from rural areas and are separated from their siblings. Many urban children in Souther n Africa now live in nuclear family units, and when their parents die, the household is dissolved, the children moving to live elsewhere. It can no longer be assumed that if their parents pass away there will be anyone in the home village who is able and willing to care for them. Occasionally, children remain in the home, either joined by an adult relative or remaining as a 'child-headed household'. The needs of those who are sick with AIDS also entails migration by children. Households often rely on extended family networks to provide care for sick relatives. Many children providing care for relatives in urban Zimbabwe have moved there from rural areas.

#### RESEARCH METHODS

The research project reported in this paper was undertaken with three key aims.

- To examine the nature and impacts of AIDS-related children's migration.
- To inform policy responses to the AIDS pandemic.
- To promote the voices of AIDS-affected children.

The research adopted a children-focused approach in order to examine: the forms of migration that young people affected by HIV/AIDS engage in; the difficulties they face; the coping strategies they employ and forms of support that are available to them; and the ways in which they might be better supported. Following an outline of the methods used, the remainder of this paper presents the research findings relating to these five questions.

The research employed children-centred qualitative and quantitative methods, drawing on methodologies developed by researchers exploring the impacts of migration on young people in other contexts.<sup>31</sup> There was a need to include a relatively extensive survey to determine the nature, extent and causes of migration among young people, as well as techniques that would allow in-depth insight into young people's responses and needs. In order to explore a wide range of migration experiences

the study was also comparative, contrasting urban and rural experiences, and comparing Malawi's relatively long-standing experience of dealing with HIV/AIDS with the more recent, but rapidly developing, situation in Lesotho.

Research was conducted over a period of five months in 2001 in four case study areas in the two countries. In Malawi, the urban location of Ndirande, a high-density township in Blantyre, the main commercial centre, was selected due to its large transient population seeking employment in the city. In contrast Mpando village area, located in Thyolo District in the Southern Region, has a much less mobile population, although migration into and out of the area still takes place. Mpando is located in one of the country's major tea growing areas, and ther efore employment-related migration is not uncommon. In recent years migration has also occurred due to the food security crisis further south where flooding destroyed much of the maize crop. The locations selected in Lesotho also contained relatively transient populations. The capital city, Maseru, is located on the border with South Africa and is growing by 7% a year due to rapid rural-urban migration. The rural location, Tlali, is located about 60 km from Maseru, in the foothills of the Maluti Mountains. The population here is supported by subsistence agriculture combined with remittances from labour migration. More permanent migration also takes place, with migrants arriving from the more isolated highland areas or leaving to take up employment in urban areas.

Because school attendance is relatively high, even among orphans, it was decided that the best way to access large numbers of children was through schools. In Lesotho, children were randomly selected from Standards 5, 6 and 7 of the local primary schools and Form A of neighbouring secondary schools. In Malawi, where children remain at primary school a year longer, the children were in Standards 5-8 of primary school. Classes are not of uniform age, but while a wide range of ages was represented (the youngest was 10, the eldest 20), over 75% of participating children in each locality were aged 12-15. The vast majority conformed to the legal definition of a 'child' in both countries (i.e. they were under 18), but were old enough to be able to reflect on and articulate their migration experiences.

All of the schools selected were government schools catering for students from low-to-middle income homes. Wealthier households tend to educate their children in private schools and a minority of poor children drop out of primary school before reaching the upper primary classes. It was considered important not to exclude young migrants who were not attending school. In each country, groups of out-of-school children were identified in consultation with local leaders, while children in

institutional care and street children were accessed through local organisations.

A questionnaire was distributed to 822 school children proportionately representing each community. The questionnaire was used primarily as a preparatory exercise for identifying young AIDS migrants, and was subsequently triangulated with key informant interviews and indepth qualitative methods. Further measures were put in place to ensure the children developed ownership of the exercise, which has been shown to increase true responses. Prior to undertaking the questionnaire children were invited to participate in discussions on migration and what it means to move house. Following this, children were involved in drafting and piloting the questionnaire. The children were also given the opportunity to draw or write about migration on the back of the form, in order to express their own thoughts and ideas more fully

On the basis of the answers given in the questionnaires, children were selected for participation in further qualitative research, which involved three main methods: focus group discussions, migration storyboards, and migration mapping. These methods allowed the children to express their opinions and views freely and in detail. Approximately 50 children in each location were invited to take part in focus group discussions. These were children whose questionnaire responses revealed that they had moved home due to the sickness or death of a relative or had had children move into their household in such circumstances.

Following the discussions, smaller groups of approximately 10 to 15 children were invited to draw their experiences in storyboards and map children's migration patter ns. The storyboards allowed the children to define the important aspects of their migration stories and to display these through drawing pictures. The storyboard then acted as catalysts for eliciting further oral description.<sup>32</sup> The mapping exercise was a further action-based method and involved the same children marking on a map of the country the places where children in their communities arrive from, and move to. Again this acted as a tool for discussing reasons for children's migration.

In order to investigate the extent and nature of children's migration, its relationship to AIDS-affliction among families and communities, and its impacts on other household members, 40 guardians were interviewed, drawn proportionately from the four communities, about their experiences of receiving children into their homes. Key government officials and NGO workers were also interviewed. Within each chosen community, teachers and local leaders were interviewed. These informants acted as aids in identifying guardians in the community who had received young migrants into their care.

For ethical and practical reasons, the research was not restricted to

children and families whose situations were demonstrably related to HIV/AIDS. Although cause of death was discussed, the stigma surrounding HIV/AIDS is such that deaths of relatives are almost never attributed to this cause. Research has demonstrated, however, that the parents of at least half the orphans in Lesotho and Malawi died of AIDS.<sup>33</sup> It is therefore likely that the majority of children involved in the research were indirectly affected by AIDS.

In 2003, return visits were made to the four communities in order to disseminate the results of the research. Dissemination workshops were held with migrant children (including some of the original participants who were still at primary school), and with the wider communities. These allowed the children and adults to find out about the research findings and to comment upon them, in particular suggesting how a range of actors from individual child migrants, other household members, schools, communities, NGOs and government might respond to them. Representatives of government ministries, NGOs and donor agencies were invited to participate in policy workshops that were also held in each country. These were used to develop policy recommendations and provide input into a web-based training manual for use with community workers in areas of high AIDS prevalence.

# CHILDREN'S AIDS-RELATED MIGRATION IN LESOTHO AND MALAWI

he questionnaire survey revealed that about 50% of children had moved house at some time during their lives (Table 4): the proportion was highest (58%) in the Malawi communities, and lowest in rural Lesotho (31%). The questionnaire probably significantly underreported migration as many children were unable or unwilling to accept that moving to live with a relative was 'moving house.' The qualitative methods revealed considerably higher levels of migrancy than the questionnaires.

Table 4: The Extent of Children's Migration in Malawi and Lesotho								
	Mpando		Ndirande		Tlali		Maseru	
	N	%	N	%	N	%	N	%
Moved once	110	59.0	130	58.0	62	31.0	97	50.0
Moved more than once	73	39.0	87	39.0	24	12.0	49	25.0

The reasons why children had moved home varied considerably from place to place, but the death or sickness of a parent or other relative figured significantly: between 3.9% (in urban Lesotho) and 19.7% (in rural Malawi) of child migrants reporting having moved for these reasons (Table 5). At least half the children in each sample had had people come to live in their households (Table 6), of whom between 6.1% (urban Lesotho) and 19.9% (urban Malawi) were children who had moved because their own parents or guardians were sick or had died (Table 7).

Table 5: Children's Reasons for Having Moved House								
	Mpan	do	Ndirande		Tlali		Maseru	
	N	%	N	%	N	%	N	%
Parent/guardian died	16	15.0	11	8.6	1	1.6	2	2.6
Parent/guardian sick	0	0.0	1	0.8	1	1.6	0	0.0
Relative sick	5	4.7	0	0.0	2	3.3	1	1.3
To help relative	5	4.7	1	0.8	5	8.2	2	2.6
Told by relative	7	6.5	5	3.9	0	0.0	0	0.0
Parents working – sent to relative	0	0.0	0	0.0	3	4.9	1	1.3
Work/job moved	39	36.4	15	11.7	0	0.0	6	7.7
School	1	0.9	2	1.6	8	13.1	7	9.0
Urban advantages	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	2	2.6
Witchcraft	5	4.7	2	1.6	4	6.6	0	0.0
House destroyed	4	3.7	9	7.0	9	14.8	1	1.3
Newer/bigger/better home	4	3.7	45	35.2	0	0.0	4	5.1
Built house	1	0.9	12	9.4	1	1.6	16	20.5
Rent increases	0	0.0	7	5.5	0	0.0	0	0.0
Conflict with landlord/debt/expelled	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	7	9.0
Agriculture/land	6	5.6	1	0.8	2	3.3	0	0.0
Famine/disaster	8	7.5	2	1.6	0	0.0	0	0.0
Diseases	2	1.9	1	0.8	0	0.0	0	0.0
Other	2	1.9	0	0.0	9	14.8	13	16.7

Table 6: Children Who Have Had Others Move In to Live with Them								
	Mpando		Ndirande		Tlali		Maseru	
	N	%	N	%	N	%	N	%
Yes	93	50.0	154	69.0	110	55.0	107	55.0
No	93	50.0	69	31.0	90	45.0	88	45.0

Table 7: Reasons Why Others Moved to Live with Children								
	Mpano	Mpando		Ndirande		Tlali		eru
	N	%	N	%	N	%	N	%
Their guardian(s)/parent(s) sick	1	1.1	2	1.3	2	1.8	0	0.0
Their guardian(s)/parent(s) died	16	17.0	29	18.6	17	15.3	6	6.1
My guardian(s)/parent(s) sick	0	0.0	7	4.5	5	4.5	2	2.0
My guardian(s)/parent(s) died	1	1.1	3	1.9	5	4.5	2	2.0
Alone/old/sick/needed care	9	9.6	5	3.2	16	14.4	13	13.3
Spouse died	1	1.1	1	0.6	0	0.0	1	1.0
Their parents went away	4	4.3	1	0.6	0	0.0	4	4.1
To help at home	7	7.4	7	4.5	12	10.8	6	6.1
My parent(s) work away	0	0.0	2	1.3	12	10.8	6	6.1
Problems in their home/area	1	1.1	2	1.3	5	4.5	6	6.1
For school	10	10.6	42	26.9	3	2.7	8	8.2
Destitute/no home/home destroyed	10	10.6	12	7.7	19	17.1	12	12.2
For work	21	22.3	41	26.3	0	0.0	19	19.4
Don't know	9	9.6	1	0.6	5	4.5	0	0.0
Other	4	4.3	1	0.6	10	9.0	13	13.3

Table 8: Patterns of Children's Migration in Lesotho and Malawi (%)							
	Lesotho		Malawi		Total		
Migration type	Maseru	Tlali	Ndirande	Mpando			
Localised	43.2	13.5	79.3	17.3	43.2		
Urban to rural		41.3		26.4	13.7		
Rural to urban	39.8		16.0		14.9		
Rural to rural		43.2		55.4	20.2		
Urban to urban	12.8		3.9		4.4		
From outside country	4.2	2.0	0.8	0.9	1.8		
N	97	62	130	110	399		

In general, slightly more children had moved to rural areas than to urban areas on account of the sickness or death of relatives (Table 8). The large discrepancy between Lesotho and Malawi may relate to the more recent impact of AIDS in Lesotho. In Malawi children are likely to have been orphans (or otherwise affected by AIDS) for longer, meaning that they are more likely to have engaged in AIDS-related migration. For the same reason, more of the orphans in Malawi will be old enough to have participated in the research. Other research suggests that even in Lesotho, children's migration has probably increased due to

AIDS: the years 1993 to 1999 saw the proportion of households accommodating children who were not the offspring of the household head increase from 22.4% to 32.8%.<sup>34</sup>

The trigger for children's AIDS-related migration was often a secondary consequence of sickness or death, again giving rise to underreporting on the questionnaire. The economic and social impacts of the disease are such that children move home because of their parents' or guardians' inability to pay rent, because school fees are lower elsewhere, to avoid gossipy neighbours, or 'witchcraft', which is often blamed for the symptoms of AIDS. Actual patterns of migration and their relationship with sickness/death were often highly complex. A seventeen-year-old boy in Maseru, for instance, reported that he had moved to live with his father for the first time at the age of twelve in order to care for him in the months prior to his death.

Childr en were found to engage in migration at local, national and international scales. In general, urban children were more likely to have moved from within the local area, whereas children moving to rural locations were from further afield. A large, though not overwhelming, proportion of the long-distance migration reported was from urban to rural locations, supporting the contention that children move back to their grandparents' villages to be cared for when their parents die.<sup>35</sup>

A sizeable proportion of young migrants had moved more than once (Table 4), demonstrating that migration is not always permanent. Both sequential and cyclical migration patterns were associated with HIV/AIDS. Cyclical migration generally meant children moving on a temporary basis to help a household under stress, whereas sequential migration patterns more often signalled the failure of the original migration, usually because the receiving household could no longer support incoming children emotionally or financially.<sup>36</sup>

The interviews conducted with guardians who had taken in children revealed that almost all were related to the children. Although there was not a consistent pattern (Table 9), most were grandparents and, contrary to Lesotho's patrilineal cultural conventions, most migrant children were residing with maternal relatives. The same was true in Malawi. Most guardians identified were women or couples.

Table 6 somewhat oversimplifies the situations of some children. A number of children could be described as resident in more than one household: some slept in one house but ate in another; some stayed at one place during the week, but another at weekends and during school holidays. The table also omits the significant number of children who live not with guardians but in institutional care or on the streets.

Table 9: Relatives with whom Orphaned Children Live							
Maseru	Blantyre						
Maternal grandparent(s)	4	Maternal grandmother	8				
Maternal aunt	3	Maternal aunt	7				
Paternal grandparent(s)	3	Grandmother	1				
Paternal uncle	1						
Paternal relatives	1						
Aunts in-law	1						
Aunt	1						
Tlali		Mpando					
Maternal grandparent(s)	9	Maternal grandmother	3				
Maternal aunt	2	Maternal uncle	2				
Paternal aunt	1	Maternal aunt	2				
		Maternal great-aunt	1				
		Paternal grandparents	1				
		Grandmother	1				
		Sister	2				
		Aunt	1				

# EXPLAINING CHILDREN'S MIGRATION

uch of the migration undertaken by children in response to HIV/AIDS is part of a household/family coping strategy. In the Southem African context it is important to extend consideration of household coping to the wider extended family, as many families are dispersed among several households whose individual membership is highly fluid. Actions taken in response to stresses such as HIV/AIDS take into account not only the needs and capacities of those who are (temporarily) co-resident, but also kin who are resident elsewhere.

Long-term sickness and high death rates are presenting Southern African families/households with numerous costs including medical and funeral expenses as well as the work of caring for the sick and emotional trauma of watching people die. Those who are sick are less able to eam an income or to contribute their labour to the sustenance of the household, including childcare, and their sickness may remove other individuals from productive or reproductive work in order to provide care. Death of adults is likely to further reduce income and, particularly relevant here, the ability of the household to care for children. In order to address these problems of loss of income and labour, families/households

employ children's (accompanied and unaccompanied) migration as a coping strategy.

The term 'coping strategy' is used here merely to refer to actions people take to address their own needs and those of their kin in situations of stress. The Coping' does not imply there are no costs involved or that actions are invariably successful; 'strategy' does not imply a carefully prepared plan. Furthermore, the particular issue of children's migration is complicated by two factors. First, actions taken with regard to where children live are never the product of purely rational decision-making, but are highly influenced by emotional attachment and sense of moral obligation. Second, children are not merely pawns, moved around at the will of adult decision-makers, but are themselves social actors exercising agency. Even where they are not formally involved in discussions concerning where they should live, they may have influence, and if dissatisfied they may migrate elsewhere of their own volition. The control of the

There are three key sets of considerations that contribute to the decisions family members make concerning children's AIDS-related migration:

- who is responsible for the children;
- whether a particular household can meet the children's needs;
- whether a household might usefully employ the children's capacities

These considerations are related both to the characteristics and needs of individual households and of children themselves. Children's age and gender play significant roles in determining what are thought to be their needs and capabilities.

#### RESPONSIBILITY FOR CHILDREN

ost people who take children into their homes feel that they have a responsibility to do so. This sense of responsibility is the product of a number of influences. Cultural conventions may be one such influence, but in practice, as Table 5 reveals, cultural edicts no longer dictate which relatives children live with, but only that they remain the responsibility of kin.

The fact that most orphans were found to be living with maternal relatives reflects a common sequence of events related to HIV/AIDS. Typically, the father pre-deceases the mother. A woman who (as in Lesotho) lives with her in-laws, may be forced to move away because she is blamed for her husband's death, or due to conflicts over property. Furthermore, if she herself becomes ill she is likely to move with her children to stay with her own parents. When she dies, the children are already resident with their maternal grandparents, and are by default

considered the responsibility of their maternal relatives, either the grandparents themselves or aunts/uncles. However, while co-residence may increase the sense of responsibility adults feel towards children, distance is seldom a significant factor and some children migrate long distances because a particular relative feels responsibility for them. The fact that most guardians are female suggests that women feel a greater sense of responsibility towards related children than do men, although this may also reflect the greater numbers of elderly women in both countries.

Some maternal grandparents explained that they were caring for children because their daughter would have wanted them to. In other cases it was affection or at least sympathy for the children that prompted guardians to provide a home. More often, relatives seek to divest themselves of the guardianship of children. The fact that nine of the forty guardians explained that they had taken in children because they "had nowhere else to go" demonstrates that not every relative is equally willing or able to accept AIDS-affected children. This may relate to the fear and stigma that is associated with AIDS, although that was not mentioned by guardians.

Sense of responsibility for children does not operate in a vacuum. Responsibility for care is considered to relate to capacity to provide care. An elderly and infirm individual is unlikely to be expected to accept young children unless those children are of an age that they can provide assistance. Equally, where there are a large number of siblings, they are likely to be shared between a number of households to reduce the cost to any one. Even where a parent is still alive, relatives may feel they should take the children into their own home if they are better able to care for them or pay school fees.

Sense of responsibility also relates to children's own preferences. Most child migrants interviewed for this study were not consulted about where they wanted to live, but a number of guardians said that they had responded to children's wishes and allowed them to stay with them. Children's agency is limited as they cannot choose to move to an unwilling household. If children are strongly opposed to the arrangements their relatives make for them, their only option may be to seek an alternative home on the streets.

# PROVIDING FOR NEEDS

he second set of factors affecting decisions about where AIDS-affected children should live concerns household resources. Children's needs vary, as do the capacities of households to meet them. These needs include shelter, economic support, schooling, supervision and psychosocial support. The inability of a household to meet a child's needs may lead to their migration from that household.

Access to appropriate shelter is a key consideration in determining where AIDS-affected children are able to live. Access to housing is very sensitive to the impacts of HIV/AIDS. Where accommodation is rented, a household might have to move if a sick adult cannot work, or if a wage earner dies, as rent can no longer be paid. If all adults in a household die, it is highly unlikely that children will be able to remain in rented accommodation. Many families become divided when they have to leave a rented home.

The experiences of people living in their own homes are partly determined by inheritance laws and customs. In the absence of a written will, widows and minor children cannot generally inherit property in either Lesotho or Malawi. If a male household head dies, his relatives might claim the house, forcing his widow and children to leave. In Lesotho, this is common practice if the husband's family declares a marriage to have been invalid, for instance because insufficient bridewealth was paid.

If both parents die, children may be placed in an even more difficult situation. Although no guardians suggested that inheritance issues played a role in migration decisions, inheritance was mentioned by migrant children in nine of the thirty-one focus groups in Malawi. Some children had been forced to move when adult relatives 'grabbed' their homes. Even if instructions are left that children should inherit, some are reluctant to fight for their parents' property due to threats of witchcraft.<sup>39</sup>

Some orphans living in owner-occupied homes refuse to move in order to try and retain ownership of the property. Such orphan-headed households can survive, although lack of income and experience, particularly in caring for younger siblings, makes them very vulnerable and has implications for children's welfare. Many, however, fail to retain possession of their homes for long, and, regardless of whether their other material and social needs are met, they ultimately have to migrate, most being taken in by extended family members.

Households that take in children need to be able to provide for their economic needs in terms of food, clothing and school fees. In general,

comparatively affluent relatives are more likely to accept children than those who have few resources.

Usually, the economic resources must come from within the household. Only occasionally is reliable assistance available from people or organisations outside the home. Sometimes, neighbouring relatives share some of the costs. One woman in Maseru explained the arrangement by which both her sisters' orphaned children, and her own (11 in all) were cared for:

These children have been divided: some live with me, some live with their grandmother and some live at home, but we collectively look after all their needs ... I used to care for them all when I had a job, but now the grandmother looks after us all as she is the only one with a job, but I keep an eye on all the children as she's not here.

Migration sometimes takes place because household economic circumstances change. Illness and death in a household may diminish the capacity to support fostered children who were not previously a significant burden on resources. Such situations may prompt carers to seek an alternative home for their charges. In other cases it is children themselves who decide to move on and seek a home elsewhere. Not all children give greatest priority to their own economic welfare, but in desperate situations, some decide that even living on the streets is preferable to extreme poverty at home. This also leaves more resources for those remaining.

In Southern Africa, a high value is attached to education, and even where it is technically free, school-related costs can be a substantial element of a household budget. The ability of households to provide for schooling can be a reason for children's migration. Schooling is often interrupted as a consequence of HIV/AIDS. Many children leave school when their parents become sick or die, and although some return to school when they move to stay with guardians, others drop out because their fees are no longer paid or they are required to undertake work during school time.

When it is known that children are not attending school, relatives sometimes intervene. Many uncles, for example, send for nieces or nephews to live with them (often in town), to ensure their attendance at school. Although fees may be paid by relatives resident elsewhere, this is uncommon. Usually the fee payer takes full charge of the child, sometimes requiring them to perform chores in exchange for their schooling:

For us, only our father was working and mother wasn't working, so when he died we went back to the village and

didn't have enough of everything like food. ... Then after two years I came here with my uncle to Ndirande. I came here to go to school, but in the village no one goes to school, so my uncle brought me here to go to a proper school.

If adults do not send children to school, the children themselves sometimes take the decision to move away, in some cases to the streets of Blantyre or Maseru. Stepparents were represented by children as particularly reluctant to fund their education.

Decisions concerning who is suited to care for AIDS-affected children take into account not only children's material needs but also their social and emotional well-being. Young children need fairly constant supervision by adults or older children to ensure their safety, help them learn and give emotional support. Households that are able to support children economically are not always the best equipped to offer supervision and provide for their psychosocial needs. Sometimes households are able to share in providing these functions. A Mosotho mother whose husband was sick and unable to work, for example, took her children to stay with their grandparents while she went to work in Johannesburg to earn money to provide for them. In most cases, however, a household has to attempt to meet all of a child's needs from within. A Mosotho grandmother explained:

I'm paid little for my job so it makes it difficult for me to do all that (pay for clothes, food, school fees). I have to leave them alone at home because there is no one to look after them ... I feel bad about leaving them at home because they are young and it seems like I'm just neglecting them. They are alone because they have no parents and me leaving them adds to that ... The 10 year old boy takes care of them because he knows they are his siblings.

Very few guardians or children referred to children's needs for supervision and care, let alone their emotional needs. This might reflect an assumption that, unlike material needs, children's non-material needs can be met by any of the adults or older children who populate large Souther n African households. Furthermore, quite young children are considered capable of spending long periods outside adult supervision.

Failure by guardians to acknowledge children's psychosocial needs has been noted in other research in Southern Africa. 40 Although the grandmother quoted above was clearly aware that orphaned children may have greater psychosocial needs than those whose parents are alive, some adults are reluctant to believe that children may suffer emotional problems, and many find it difficult to understand children's grief. 41

Orphaned children commonly suffer anxiety and depression, which may be manifest in disruptive behaviour.<sup>42</sup> Children who feel their emotional needs are not met may seek a home elsewhere.

#### EMPLOYING CHILDREN'S CAPACITIES

ecisions concerning where children should live also take into account what they can contribute to a given household. Depending on, among other things, their age, children can contribute to household survival. In situations of stress, including that related to HIV/AIDS, many households take in children specifically to help in domestic and agricultural work and caring for sick family members. Households may also be more willing to take in otherwise homeless children if they believe they will make a useful contribution.

In Southern Africa, most children undertake some domestic work. Guardians, particularly grandparents, described how grateful they were for the work their charges contributed: only one guardian complained that a child in her care refused to work. Many children, some as young as 5 or 6, are sent to grandparents, uncles and aunts in order to help with housework.

When children are sent to fulfil a particular need, this may entail permanent migration or a shorter stay, staying with a needy relative only for weekends or school holidays. Although girls are often considered more attractive to families than boys, the research reported here found only slightly more girls being sent to perform day-to-day household chor es.<sup>43</sup> The work is often gendered. In rural Lesotho, boys' services are demanded for herding, and in Malawi boys are sent to work in fields and gardens:

When we were still at my father's village [after he'd died] my [matemal] uncle came to beg for one child to help reduce the number of children [that my mother was looking after], as ... my uncle's wife had passed away. I went with my uncle to Blantyre to help him. I wasn't really happy, but since it was the decision they made to reduce the number of children my mother had to care for I had to accept. ... I was ten years old when I came ... I have to cook for him, go to the maize mill and clean the place. He has five children but all are boys so they only help me cleaning the place.

Although being sent to help a relative is a common reason for children's migration, many decide to leave households where they feel they

are made to work too hard, or where work interferes with their schooling.

In the context of HIV/AIDS, there is growing need for people to perform caring roles. Caring is usually seen as work for adults, with children often regarded as the solution of last resort. 44 But increasing numbers of children are involved, and many are migrating in order to provide care for sick relatives. Caring work differs in several ways from other chores performed by children, and entails different forms of migration. Although it is often assumed that girls are more likely to be carers, in practice, boys are also involved, particularly but not exclusively where the care recipient is male. 45

Caring work is distinctive in that it is usually temporary and, particularly in the case of AIDS-related illnesses, may terminate with the death of a relative. Migration associated with caring is therefore usually short term. As people's health may change very rapidly, it may also happen at short notice. Although caring-related migration is often temporary, AIDS-related illnesses may be episodic, and also commonly affect more than one family member. In such situations, children may engage in repeat migrations.

Where relatives do not, or cannot, provide the care children need or want, young people may move outside the extended family. This is itself a coping strategy on the part of adult relatives or of children themselves. Such a strategy may enable children's needs to be met, or at least reduce the costs to extended family households.

Movement outside the family can take a number of different forms. Some children are married early, a practice that in patrilineal societies brings economic rewards in the form of bridewealth to the girl's paternal relatives. He marrying, a girl is likely to be assured of shelter, and her material welfare becomes the responsibility of another family. Usually, however, marriage signals an end to education. Alternatively, children may be taken by their relatives to institutions that provide shelter, food and schooling.

A minority of children leave their extended family households to earn an income, usually contributing their eamings to support the household. An aunt in Mpando, for instance, sent her 13-year-old daughter away to work as a housemaid. The money the girl eamed supported the care of her younger cousins.

Other children decide to leave or are expelled from the household where they live, without having an alternative home to go to. Such children may turn to the streets. There are a number of NGOs that cater for street children, but in most cases their shelter, schooling and economic needs will not be adequately met. Some, nonetheless, perceive their situation to be preferable to remaining at home.

# PROBLEMS FACED BY YOUNG MIGRANTS

hile migration is often employed as a means of meeting children's needs, it is not without costs for the children involved. The complex migration experiences AIDS-affected young people engage in raise a number of difficulties for children who have to fit into 'new' families and 'new' communities.<sup>47</sup>

In contrast to situations where children are adopted by childless couples as a response to fertility problems, children who are adopted into a household through obligation are often treated differently from other children in the household, particularly if resources are scarce.<sup>48</sup> Although some children reported feeling welcomed by their new families, others were less enthusiastic about the way they were treated. Many felt discriminated against in the new family unit relative to the biological offspring of their guardians. Children explained that they were sometimes given different foods to eat, not adequately provided with clothing, beaten and overworked. Malawian children rated discrimination and ill treatment by foster families as the worst problems they faced.

Irrespective of how they are treated by their new guardians, rivalry between children also often characterises migrant children's experiences of their new homes. Divisions arise in the family, as biological children may not want to share their resources, both financial and emotional, with 'new' siblings, especially if they are coming to terms with parental death and need extra attention.

The converse of the difficulties children encounter in sharing with 'new' siblings is being separated from former siblings. Although sibling dispersal is seldom the preferred choice when deciding the future of orphans, in practice poverty often makes it difficult for a single house hold to accept a large sibling group. As a consequence, siblings are sometimes separated at funerals. Children are seldom involved in discussions as to where they will live and in some cases the distance between their new households makes contact difficult. Many children mentioned missing their siblings, and this is likely to be particularly acute where children have not come to terms with the recent loss of their par ent(s). It is further exacerbated where there are disputes between the households that take in children and guardians are unwilling to facilitate (or even allow) contact.

However, other children are taken into the households of adult siblings, and this, too, creates difficulties. Such children are generally treated more as a younger sibling than an adopted child, and many stated that they felt they received inadequate care.

Maintaining contact with siblings and other family members was

particularly difficult for children living on the streets or in institutions. While some institutions found ways of promoting continued contact with families, others preferred their charges to make a clean break from abusive home situations.

Many children moving to a new home as a consequence of HIV/AIDS are expected to undertake more and different work from what they have been used to. In some cases this is because taking in children imposes additional costs, in time, energy and money, on families who may be poor or elderly, and can only be sustained if the children themselves share the burden. Children may perform domestic chores for the new household, undertake agricultural or other productive work, or they may be required to provide care for children or sick adults. Some young migrants are incorporated into households explicitly as workers in payment for their keep: either they migrate specifically in order to provide labour to another household or their acceptance into a household is conditional on their performance of domestic or productive chores. In either case this changes their relationship with the household, as they are not an member part of the new family. Children who are sent away from home to engage in wage labour to support AIDS-affected families are removed from their families and have to drop out of school.

Even where children are used to performing household chores, those expected of them in their new household may be unfamiliar, and may be physically challenging. Children sent to care for sick relatives may quickly have to learn new skills, and face not only physical and educational, but also emotional costs.

Place-related differences also shape the work experiences of those who move between urban and rural locations. Children migrating from urban to rural environments found it particularly difficult to adapt to agricultural chores. In Lesotho, urban boys found herding livestock boring, and got into trouble for failing to keep the animals away from famers' fields. In Malawi children found working in the fields most difficult. This created tensions and often resulted in teasing, as rural children were seldom sympathetic to the plight of their urban cousins.

Childr en have been shown to suffer psychosocial difficulties including emotional distress, anxiety and depression related to the sickness or death of a parent from AIDS.<sup>49</sup> Many find themselves in "a social void, [lacking] a cohesive space in which one is located as a member of a stable family, a neighbourhood or a community.'<sup>50</sup> These problems of isolation, anxiety, depression and poverty are exacerbated when AIDS-affected children engage in migration.

Those moving over long distances needed to develop new social contacts and many mentioned missing their friends. Intra-generational

friendship groups are important in children's lives, particularly in Souther n Africa. 51 Friends are crucial not only socially, but also in the formation of identity.<sup>52</sup> Children commonly talked of missing their friends as one of the main drawbacks of migration, and described the isolation they felt. Many retreated indoors, spending their time doing schoolwork or watching television while other children were outside playing. The trauma of losing a parent makes social integration in a new community more difficult and guardians noted that newcomers were often withdrawn and found it difficult to engage with other children. This was exacerbated for those children who lacked competence in rural tasks, as work and play are often inter-related. 53 AIDS-related poverty is also problematic, as one way in which children commonly make new friends is through sharing resources. The trauma of losing a parent makes social integration in a new community more difficult and guardians noted that newcomers were often withdrawn and found it difficult to engage with other children. Further, the increasing association between orphanhood and AIDS makes integration into community life difficult. This was particularly the case in Lesotho where AIDS is more recent. Children who undertake repeated migration, as new guardians fall ill or can no longer support them, have particular difficulties in establishing social bonds.

For most children in Malawi and Lesotho, education, at least at the primary level, plays a prominent role in their lives. It is also an aspect of life that is often disrupted by migration, particularly where this takes place over medium or long distances so that children cannot continue to attend the same school. While children's schooling is sometimes a key consideration in deciding where they should live, many children drop out of school, or at least experience significant disruption, due to migration.

Migration-related educational disruption is likely to compound the absenteeism and school dropout rate related to HIV/AIDS. Where households are affected by HIV/AIDS, children are often withdrawn from school on a temporary or permanent basis, either because of loss of income to pay school fees and related costs or to care for those who are sick or engage in other tasks to assist the family. Parental death causes further difficulties such that orphans and foster children are less likely to attend school than children whose parents are living.

Most guardians expressed concem for the education of children in their care. However, although the cost of schooling is relatively low, many children talked of varying forms of disruption that migration caused to their education. In Lesotho, children ranked the disruption to education as the worst difficulty young migrants face.

Some children had been withdrawn from school when they moved

because there was no money in the new household to pay their fees and costs of uniforms, books and stationery. Very few children moving to the streets were able to attend school, but drop-out was also fairly common among children who returned to live with rural grandparents, and those attending secondary schools, which are much more expensive. Other children moved from private fee-paying schools in town to much cheaper rural schools.

Regardless of the relative status of the schools, moving school can be a difficult experience. In focus groups, children talked about the changes in curriculum, teaching methods and regulations as they moved between schools. Even the logistics of finding one's class can be difficult when, as in Ndirande, children arrive for the first time at a school with nearly 9000 students. Several children reported having been successful students at their previous schools, but finding themselves in a much lower class position having moved. The difficulties are at their most pronounced when migration takes place across national borders. In Lesotho several children had returned from schools in South Africa, and in Malawi some children had experienced the Mozambican and Zimbabwean education systems. For these children there were particular difficulties associated with language.

Irrespective of guardians' willingness to support their charges' education, migrant children often experience bureaucratic difficulties when changing school. These are especially problematic for those whose migration takes place with little notice. Many schools refuse to accept new students because all their places are full. They may also require a letter of introduction from the former head teacher - a letter that is not always easy to obtain, particularly if children were absent from school for a while prior to moving, as may be the case when their move is associated with the death of a parent. Children who move in the middle of the school year are often required to wait until the start of the new year to register, meaning they must restart the class they had already begun. Where children are at secondary school they may be required to restart the two- or three-year cycle.

Being relegated to a lower class, and struggling academically can be disillusioning for young people. Where children feel they stand out as different, because their clothes are older or less fashionable than those of other students, or they have no money to spend at lunch time, or they are stigmatised because of AIDS, there is an increased likelihood that they will play truant or drop out of school through their own decision.<sup>54</sup>

# MULTIPLE MIGRATION

f 65 children who depicted their migration experiences, onethird had moved more than once following the death of a parent or other guardian, and some had moved as many as five times. The story of Annie from Ndirande is illustrative. Annie's first move was undertaken in order to care for her sick grandmother. After her grandmother had recovered, her father fell ill, and she had to look after him. When her father died, she moved again, returning to stay with her mother. However, having lost the income from her father's employment, the family was impoverished, and Annie was sent to help her uncle with the housework, thereby relieving her mother's household of the cost of her upkeep. Although multiple migrations are not necessarily problematic, they do indicate that some children are facing repeated disruption to their education and social networks, and in many cases they signal the breakdown of the original fostering arrangement. There are two sets of reasons why migrations failed, both relating to household level factors: either children were very unhappy in their new homes and chose to leave or the circumstances of the household changed and they were required to leave.

The number of children who left their homes because they were unhappy was relatively small. The reasons were usually connected with feeling discriminated against or abused in their new home. Usually they resented the sense that their guardians did not care: that conditions could have been made better for them, but instead they were exploited. Most such stories of ill treatment related not to impoverished grandparents, but to aunts, uncles and especially stepparents whose affections were reserved for their own children. In such instances children undertook a second migration, either seeking out relatives who might be more sympathetic or, in more desperate cases, moving to the city streets.

Most repeat migrations were instigated not by children themselves, but were the outcome of changes in wider circumstances. Most often the explanation lay with the changing situation of the guardian(s). Given that AIDS tends to cluster in families, it is unsurprising that in some cases guardians became sick and were no longer able to provide adequate care. Some guardians died, making renewed migration inevitable. Some grandparents, too, suffered sickness or death, directly or indirectly requiring children to move on.

Another common change of circumstance that led to renewed migration among Malawian children was the remarriage of parents or other guardians. New spouses were sometimes reluctant to accept children into their homes.

Unemployment, too (which may relate to AIDS-related sickness),

can mean that a home that was once welcoming is no longer willing to support additional children. Sometimes this relates to the sudden scar city of material resources; sometimes the family home is attached to the job. It is not always changes in a child's immediate household that provoke renewed migration. If circumstances change elsewhere, for instance when a relative falls sick, an orphan might be sent to provide assistance.

Given that grandparents are generally elderly, and that many adults in Lesotho and Malawi have AIDS, some migration associated with guardians' changing circumstances is unavoidable. It is noteworthy that where grandparents take in orphans the arrangement was found to be three times more likely to last than where children enter the homes of aunts or uncles. This suggests that where guardians are motivated to care for children, and do not have competing loyalties to reconcile, they are more likely to provide a long-term home.

#### POLICY IMPLICATIONS

olicy contexts differ considerably between Lesotho and Malawi, although neither country's government has taken the implications of children's migration in response to AIDS on board. Lesotho has no specific policy on children affected by AIDS.55 Despite a detailed report by UNICEF in 1999, the National AIDS Strategic Plan focuses almost exclusively on prevention, and has little to say in relation to the impacts of AIDS on children or adults.<sup>56</sup> Although one of the 'strategic aims' expressed in the Plan is for '50% of orphans, due to AIDS, [to be] cared for by March 2003', it is unclear what this means or how it was to be achieved. Of the nineteen 'strategic objectives', none relates specifically to AIDS-affected children. The government Policy Framework on HIV/AIDS Prevention, Control and Management contains only a few lines referring to caring for orphans.<sup>57</sup> Although individual government ministries as well as NGOs, CBOs and faith-based organisations are taking a variety of actions in relation to the impacts of AIDS on children, there is no national mechanism for the coordination of such policy responses.58

By contrast, Malawi's National HIV/AIDS Strategic Framework includes three pages on orphans, widows and widowers, recommending strategies relating to the modification of laws and policies; improved care and support; and the provision of life skills training.<sup>59</sup> The Ministry of Gender, Youth and Community Service has been involved in developing a National Policy on Orphans and Vulnerable Children which encompasses policy development in a range of areas of government activity.<sup>60</sup>

When relating these policy documents to the needs of migrant children, two major issues emerge. First, the policy documents (and policy solutions) consider only the needs of orphans, and neglect children who are otherwise affected by AIDS. For Malawi's National Policy on Orphans and Vulnerable Children, a 'vulnerable child' is taken to mean 'a child who has no parents or able guardians, staying with elderly grandparents or in a sibling headed household.' This definition excludes, for instance, children sent to care for sick aunts, uncles or perform work for stepparents.

The second problem with respect to policy responses to HIV/AIDS, is that they commonly advocate 'community-based care.'62 UNICEF's report on programming for families and children affected by AIDS in Lesotho, for instance, states that "it is assumed that community based approaches are the only viable and sustainable alternative for providing care and protection for children made vulnerable by the HIV/AIDS epidemic."63 However, such documents do not use the term 'communitybased care' in a consistent and uniform way. It is used variously to refer to care in the community (i.e. not in institutions); care organised at the community level (for instance through coordination of service provisions through Community AIDS Committees); or care by the community (where individuals or groups devote time or money to the care of children). In all three usages it is assumed that there is an identifiable and static community to which orphaned children and their guardians belong. In practice, however, the prevalence of migration among children affected by AIDS means that many orphaned children are newcomers to their communities.

Children in both Lesotho and Malawi are considered the responsibility of their kin, and not the wider community. Children who were unhappy with the support offered in a particular household did not look to unrelated community members for assistance, but left the community to seek help from relatives elsewhere, or to make a life on the streets. This is not to suggest that communities have no role to play in supporting the family care of AIDS-affected children, but that policies should recognise that in highly migrant societies families and communities play very distinct roles. Static support mechanisms need to be supplemented by measures that recognise the fluidity of AIDS-affected communities.

Policy responses are needed to diminish the problems associated with migration, tackling both the causes of the problems and the capacities of those involved to address difficulties, as well as diminishing the need for children to undertake (repeated) migration. <sup>64</sup> Ways are needed to facilitate children's incorporation into new households, new communities and new schools. Since young AIDS migrants are supported mainly through the extended family, support needs to be channelled in ways

that, first, support the children themselves, and second, support the families that receive them. There are clear roles for government in relation to social welfare, finance and education.

Although social welfare departments in both Lesotho and Malawi are poorly resourced, there are many NGOs and CBOs working with people in their communities who could play a role in helping families to find ways to make migration easier for children. Given that some of the key difficulties faced by young AIDS migrants concern making social contacts, learning environment-specific chores and fitting into new households, children are likely to find migration less traumatic if they are familiar with the people and place in advance of having to move home. Where children had regularly visited their new families and homes prior to moving, they faced fewer problems. By contrast, the children who found migration most difficult were those who had been apprehensive about moving to an unfamiliar place. Policy interventions might support transition strategies to ease the migration process. By promoting preliminary visits and the developing of contacts with potential guardians, some of the anxieties that surround moving might be reduced.

Anxiety was exacerbated in situations where children had not been told to expect the death of a parent, and where the cause of sickness was not discussed. Stigma associated with HIV/AIDS, as well as a general reluctance to talk about impending death, means that children are seldom well informed about the course of a relative's illness. For many children, the death of a parent was unexpected, a situation that made adjustment difficult. In many cases, decisions concerning where children should live took place immediately after the funeral. Children were not involved in discussions but simply told whom they would live with. In these situations children felt powerless: they were aware that adults were the decision-makers and that they had no choice.

Childr en would find it easier to cope with new situations if they were included in discussions concerning where they should live, and in some cases this might avoid breakdown of fostering arrangements. Although children do not expect to be consulted by those making such decisions, many state they would like to have a say. Although the realistic options are often very limited, discussions with children would at least enable them to voice their opinions and to understand the reasoning behind the decisions that are made.

It is not only important to prepare children for migration and to develop relationships in advance; children also benefit from maintaining ties with kin once they have moved. There are a number of means by which children's connection to their former lives - both the places and the people that populated them - might be kept alive. This might

be achieved through visits to the former home and relatives (including to those who themselves have moved elsewhere). If this is not possible other strategies might be pursued. Family trees can be drawn to demonstrate to children who they are related to and to enable them to learn something about their kin. These might assist children to feel more socially and culturally rooted. Memory books or memory boxes have been used to assist children in remembering deceased parents. These include photographs, stories and memorabilia concerning the parent, ideally put together while they are still alive. This is an idea that can be extended to include memories of a place - of a former school, friends and relatives from a child's former home. Maintaining memories and contacts in this way is particularly important for children who are cut off from family life by being placed in institutions or living on the streets. Ensuring that children do not become too distanced from their family and cultural background would provide them with a greater range of options in their future lives.

Economic considerations are also of great significance in relation to children's migration, and here there is a potential role for finance ministries. Many of the difficulties young migrants face, including competing with other children for resources, dropping out of school and having to work, relate to the costs of caring for children in situations of poverty. These conditions also prompt families to choose guardians for children on the basis of economic expediency, rather than taking into account the full range of children's needs and interests. Where guardians are selected for reasons of short-term economic viability they may prove inadequate care-givers, or be unwilling to continue as guardians should their circumstances change. It is therefore desirable that policies enable children to be cared for by guardians who are able and willing to provide sustainable long-term homes.

Grandparents often offer more sustainable homes for AIDS-affected children than other relatives. As the ratio of orphaned children to healthy adults increases, however, aging relatives are struggling to provide financial and physical resources to care for growing numbers of children. Grandparents are sometimes unable to accept children on account of poverty, and when children leave the homes of grandparents the reason usually relates to poverty. The most effective way of supporting grandparents (or other committed relatives) in caring for AIDS-affected children would be to reduce the costs involved and facilitate access to material resources. Any reduction in the costs to a household of caring for children is likely to facilitate their incorporation into new homes, and acceptance by new siblings. Given that children's migration is usually triggered by economic factors, rather than directly by AIDS, reducing costs could diminish the need for repeated migrations. Free

primary education in Malawi, for instance, means fewer children there migrate for reasons related to the cost of schooling than in Lesotho, where education was free only in Standards One and Two. Accelerating the roll-out of free primary education, as has been mooted by the Lesotho government, would bring widespread benefits. 65 Old age pensions would also assist many grandparents to care for children. Other possible ways of reducing costs to households include feeding schemes, income generation projects, and the provision of pre-schools that would allow guardians to work and generate an income.

The education sector, too, has a clear role to play in improving conditions for migrant children. Children's movement between schools is hampered by bureaucratic procedures and the rigidity of curricula. Governments are beginning to consider the value of introducing more flexibility into education systems, which would allow for periods of absence from school to fulfil caring responsibilities and would also enable children to move between schools with less disruption. Schools may also operate as focal places for addressing the needs of vulnerable children. 66

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research was funded by the UK Department for International Development (DFID). DFID supports policies, programmes and projects to promote international development. DFID provided funds for this study as part of that objective but the views and opinions expressed are those of the authors alone. We gratefully acknowledge the institutional support of the Institute of Southern African Studies, National University of Lesotho and the Department of Geography, Chancellor College, University of Malawi, and thank Motsilisi Motsieloa, Titi Motsieloa, Lloyd Chitera and Lumbani Pete for their work as research assistants on the project. Thanks are also due to all the children and adults who participated in the research. The publication of the paper was funded by the Southern African Migration Project.

#### **ENDNOTES**

- 1 UNAIDS, *Report on the Global HIV/AIDS Epidemic* (Geneva: UNAIDS, 2002).
- 2 B. Williams, E. Gouws, M. Lurie, and J. Crush, *Spaces of Vulnerability: Migration and HIV/AIDS in South Africa*. SAMP Migration Policy Series No. 24, 2002.
- 3 UNAIDS/WHO, Epidemiological Fact Sheets on HIV/AIDS and Sexually Transmitted Infections: Malawi 2002 Update (revised) (Geneva, 2002).
- 4 S. Kimario, J. Okpaku, A. Githuku-Shongwe and J. Feeney, eds., *Turning a Crisis into an Opportunity: Strategies for Scaling up the National Response to the HIV/AIDS Pandemic in Lesotho* (Maseru: Third Press, 2004).
- 5 UNAIDS, *Report on the Global HIV/AIDS Epidemic* (Geneva: UNAIDS, 1998, 2000, 2002).
- 6 USAID/UNICEF/UNAIDS, Children on the Brink 2002: A Joint Report on Orphan Estimates and Program Strategies (Washington, 2002).
- 7 Ibid.
- 8 M. Haour-Knipe and R. Rector, eds., *Crossing Borders: Migration, Ethnicity and AIDS* (London: Taylor and Francis, 1996); UNAIDS, *Population Mobility and AIDS* (Geneva: UNAIDS, 2001).
- 9 UNAIDS, *Population Mobility and AIDS*; and M. Carballo and H. Siem, "Migration, Migration Policy and AIDS" In Haour-Knipe and Rector, *Crossing Borders*.
- 10 IOM, "Past, Present and Future Activities with Regard to HIV/AIDS: Migration in Southern Africa" (Pretoria: IOM Regional Office 2000).
- 11 Carballo and Siem, "Migration, Migration Policy and AIDS."
- 12 Ibid
- 13 Williams et al, Spaces of Vulnerability.
- 14 Ibid.
- 15 L. Sherr and C. Farsides, "The Person Behind the Virus: Migration, Human Factors and Some Moral and Ethical Questions" In Haour-Knipe and Rector, *Crossing Borders*.
- 16 M. Urassa, J. T. Boema, R. Isingo, J. Ngalula, J. Ng'weshemi, G. Mwaluko and B. Zaba, "The Impact of HIV/AIDS on Mortality and Household Mobility in Rural Tanzania" *AIDS* 15 (2001): 2017-23.
- 17 UNAIDS, A Review of Household and Community Responses to the HIV/AIDS Epidemic in the Rural Areas of Southern Africa (Geneva, 1999); C. Desmond, K. Michael and J. Gow, "The Hidden Battle: HIV/AIDS in the Household and Community" South African Journal of International Affairs 7(2) (2000): 39-58.
- 18 Urassa et al, "The Impact of HIV/AIDS." R. Sauerborn, A. Adams and M. Hien, "Household Strategies to Cope with the Economic Costs of Illness" *Social Science and Medicine* 43(3) (1996): 291-301.

- 19 Urassa et al, "The Impact of HIV/AIDS."
- 20 USAID/UNICEF/UNAIDS, Children on the Brink 2002.
- 21 C. Grainger, D. Webb and L. Elliott, *Children Affected by HIV/AIDS: Rights and Responsibilities in the Developing World* (London: Save the Children, 2001).
- 22 Ibid.
- 23 R. Danziger, "The Social Impact of HIV/AIDS in Developing Countries" Social Science and Medicine 39(7) (1994): 905-17; E. Robson, "Invisible Carers: Young People in Zimbabwe's Home-Based Healthcare" Area 32(1) (2000): 59-70; E. Robson, and N. Ansell, "Young Carers in Southern Africa" In S. L. Holloway and G. Valentine, eds., Children's Geographies: Playing, Living, Learning (London: Routledge, 2000).
- 24 D. Webb, HIV and AIDS in Africa (London: Pluto, 1997).
- 25 C. McDowell and A. de Haan, "Migration and Sustainable Livelihoods: A Critical Review of the Literature" (Brighton: IDS, 1997).
- 26 UNICEF, "Building Systems of Protection for Children Affected by HIV/AIDS in Lesotho" (New York, 1999).
- 27 M. Urassa, J. T. Boerma, J. Ng'weshemi, R. Isingo, D. Schapink and Y. Kumogola, "Orphanhood, Child Fostering and the AIDS Epidemic in Rural Tanzania" *Health Transition Review* 7(2) (1997): 141-53.
- 28 G. Foster, R. Shakespeare, F. Chinemana, H. Jackson, S. Gregson, C. Marange and S. Mashumba, "Orphan Prevalence and Extended Family Care in a Peri-Urban Community in Zimbabwe" *AIDS Care* 7(1) (1995): 3-17.
- 29 G. Foster, C. Makufa, R. Drew and E. Kralovec, "Factors Leading to the Establishment of Child-headed Households: The Case of Zimbabwe" *Health Transition Review* 7(Supplement 2) (1997): 155-68.
- 30 E. Robson, "Invisible Carers."
- 31 S. Jones, *Assaulting Childhood: Children's Experiences of Migrancy and Hostel Life in South Africa* (Johannesburg: Witwatersrand University Press, 1993); and A. Camacho, "Family, Child Labour and Migration: Child Domestic Workers in Metro Manilla" *Childhood* 6(1) (1999): 57-73.
- 32 L. Young and H. Barrett, "Adapting Visual Methods: Action Research with Kampala Street Children" *Area* 33(2) (2001): 141-52.
- 33 USAID/UNICEF/UNAIDS, Children on the Brink 2002.
- 34 UNICEF, "Building Systems of Protection."
- 35 L. Young and N. Ansell, "Children's Experiences of Migration: Moving in the Wake of AIDS in Southern Africa" *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers* (forthcoming).
- 36 N. Ansell and L. Young, "Children's Migration as a Household/Family Strategy: Coping with AIDS in Malawi and Lesotho" *Journal of Southem African Studies* (forthcoming).
- 37 G. Rugalema, "Coping or Struggling? A Journey into the Impact of HIV/AIDS in Southern Africa" *Review of African Political Economy* 86

- (2000): 537-45.
- 38 N. Ansell and L. Young, "Enabling Households to Support Successful Migration of AIDS Orphans in Southern Africa" *AIDS Care* 16(1) (2004): 3-10.
- 39 S. Ali, "Community Perceptions of Orphan Care in Malawi" Paper presented at Conference on Raising the Orphan Generation, Pietermaritzburg, 1998.
- 40 Ibid
- 41 J. Sengendo and J. Nambi, "The Psychological Effect of Orphanhood: A Study of Orphans in Rakai District" Health Transition Review 7 (1997): 105-24
- 42 A. Pivnick and N. Villegas, "Resilience and Risk: Childhood and Uncertainty in the AIDS Epidemic" *Culture, Medicine and Psychiatry* 24 (2000): 101-36.
- 43 M. Bourdillon, "The Next Generation" Paper presented at Conference on AIDS, Livelihood and Social Change in Africa, Wageningen, 1999.
- 44 Robson and Ansell, "Young Carers in Southern Africa."
- 45 Ibid.
- 46 G. Kamchedzera, "Poor Parents, Coping Mechanisms and the Changing Image of Childhood in Malawi" (Lilongwe: Child and the Law in Eastern and Southern Africa, 1999).
- 47 L.Young and N.Ansell, "Fluid Households, Complex Families: The Impacts of Children's Migration as a Response to HIV/AIDS in Southern Africa" *Professional Geographer* 55(4) (2003): 464-79.
- 48 Urassa et al, "Orphanhood, Child Fostering and the AIDS Epidemic in Rural Tanzania."
- 49 Pivnick and Villegas, "Resilience and Risk."
- 50 Ibid.
- 51 A. Nsamenang, "Adolescence in Sub-Saharan Africa: An Image Constructed from Africa's Triple Inheritance" In B. Brown, R. Larson and T. Saraswathi, eds., *The World's Youth: Adolescence in Eight Regions of the Globe* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2002).
- 52 M. Candappa, and I. Egharevba, "Negotiating Boundaries: Tensions within Home and School Life for Refugee Children" In R. Edwards, eds., *Children, Home and School: Regulation, Autonomy or Connection?* (London: Routledge, 2002).
- 53 S. Punch, "Children's Strategies for Creating Playspaces: Negotiating Independence in Rural Bolivia," In Holloway and Valentine, *Children's Geographies*.
- 54 C. Grainger, D. Webb, and L. Elliott, *Children Affected by HIV/AIDS: Rights and Responsibilities in the Developing World.* (London: Save the Children, 2001); M. F. Orellana, B. Thorne, A. Chee, and W. S. E. Lam, "Transnational Childhoods: The Participation of Children in Processes of Family Migration," *Social Problems* 48 (2001): 572-91.

- 55 I. Kimane, "Situational Analysis of Orphans and Vulnerable Children in Lesotho" (Maseru: Lesotho Save the Children/UNICEF 2004).
- 56 UNICEF, "Building Systems of Protection" Government of Lesotho, "National AIDS Strategic Plan 2000/2001-2003/2004: A Three-year Rolling Plan for the National Response to the HIV/AIDS Epidemic in Lesotho" (Lesotho: Government of Lesotho, 2000).
- 57 Government of Lesotho, "Policy Framework on HIV/AIDS Prevention, Control and Management" (Lesotho: Government of Lesotho 2000).
- 58 Kimane, "Situational Analysis of Orphans and Vulnerable Children in Lesotho."
- 59 National AIDS Control Programme, "Malawi National HIV/AIDS Strategic Framework 2000-2004" (Lilongwe: The Strategy Planning Unit, National AIDS Control Programme, Ministry of Health and Population 1999).
- 60 Republic of Malawi, "National Policy on Orphans and Vulnerable Children: Support an Orphan Today for a Better Tomorrow" (Lilongwe: Ministry of Gender, Youth and Community Services 2001).
- 61 Ibid., p.8.
- 62 See, for example, Government of Lesotho, "National AIDS Strategic Plan."
- 63 UNICEF, "Building Systems of Protection for Children."
- 64 Ansell and Young, "Enabling Households to Support Successful Migration of AIDS Orphans in Southern Africa"; and Young and Ansell, "Young AIDS Migrants in Southern Africa."
- 65 Kimario et al, Turning a Crisis into an Opportunity.
- 66 Ibid.

#### MIGRATION POLICY SERIES

- 1. Covert Operations: Clandestine Migration, Temporary Work and Immigration Policy in South Africa (1997) ISBN 1-874864-51-9
- 2. Riding the Tiger: Lesotho Miners and Permanent Residence in South Africa (1997) ISBN 1-874864-52-7
- 3. International Migration, Immigrant Entrepreneurs and South Africa's Small Enterprise Economy (1997) ISBN 1-874864-62-4
- 4. Silenced by Nation Building: African Immigrants and Language Policy in the New South Africa (1998) ISBN 1-874864-64-0
- 5. Left Out in the Cold? Housing and Immigration in the New South Africa (1998) ISBN 1-874864-68-3
- 6. Trading Places: Cross-Border Traders and the South African Informal Sector (1998) ISBN 1-874864-71-3
- 7. Challenging Xenophobia: Myth and Realities about Cross-Border Migration in Southern Africa (1998) ISBN 1-874864-70-5
- 8. Sons of Mozambique: Mozambican Miners and Post-Apartheid South Africa (1998) ISBN 1-874864-78-0
- 9. Women on the Move: Gender and Cross-Border Migration to South Africa (1998) ISBN 1-874864-82-9.
- 10. Namibians on South Africa: Attitudes Towards Cross-Border Migration and Immigration Policy (1998) ISBN 1-874864-84-5.
- 11. Building Skills: Cross-Border Migrants and the South African Construction Industry (1999) ISBN 1-874864-84-5
- 12. Immigration & Education: International Students at South African Universities and Technikons (1999) ISBN 1-874864-89-6
- 13. The Lives and Times of African Immigrants in Post-Apartheid South Africa (1999) ISBN 1-874864-91-8
- 14. Still Waiting for the Barbarians: South African Attitudes to Immigrants and Immigration (1999) ISBN 1-874864-91-8
- 15. Undermining Labour: Migrancy and Sub-contracting in the South African Gold Mining Industry (1999) ISBN 1-874864-91-8
- 16. Borderline Farming: Foreign Migrants in South African Commercial Agriculture (2000) ISBN 1-874864-97-7
- 17. Writing Xenophobia: Immigration and the Press in Post-Apartheid South Africa (2000) ISBN 1-919798-01-3
- 18. Losing Our Minds: Skills Migration and the South African Brain Drain (2000) ISBN 1-919798-03-x
- 19. Botswana: Migration Perspectives and Prospects (2000) ISBN 1-919798-04-8
- 20. The Brain Gain: Skilled Migrants and Immigration Policy in Post-Apartheid South Africa (2000) ISBN 1-919798-14-5
- 21. Cross-Border Raiding and Community Conflict in the Lesotho-South African Border Zone (2001) ISBN 1-919798-16-1

- 22. Immigration, Xenophobia and Human Rights in South Africa (2001) ISBN 1-919798-30-7
- 23. Gender and the Brain Drain from South Africa (2001) ISBN 1-919798-35-8
- 24. Spaces of Vulnerability: Migration and HIV/AIDS in South Africa (2002) ISBN 1-919798-38-2
- 25. Zimbabweans Who Move: Perspectives on International Migration in Zimbabwe (2002) ISBN 1-919798-40-4
- 26. The Border Within: The Future of the Lesotho-South African International Boundary (2002) ISBN 1-919798-41-2
- 27. Mobile Namibia: Migration Trends and Attitudes (2002) ISBN 1-919798-44-7
- 28. Changing Attitudes to Immigration and Refugee Policy in Botswana (2003) ISBN 1-919798-47-1
- 29. The New Brain Drain from Zimbabwe (2003) ISBN 1-919798-48-X
- 30. Regionalizing Xenophobia? Citizen Attitudes to Immigration and Refugee Policy in Southern Africa (2004) ISBN 1-919798-53-6
- 31. Migration, Sexuality and HIV/AIDS in Rural South Africa (2004) ISBN 1-919798-63-3
- 32. Swaziland Moves: Perceptions and Patterns of Modem Migration (2004) ISBN 1-919798-67-6